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Our early days!—How often back

We ' turn on life's bewildering traek,
To where, o’er hill and valley, plays
The sunlight of our early days! '

In 1787 J ohn H. Phillips and his

two younger brothérs, Thomas and

Erasmus, sons of Mr. Thomas Phil-
lips,'a Welshman of large fortune,
‘were students at a college in Wales.
John H, was the reputed author of
some sedlmous or treasonable writ—
ings, and to" avo: :d arrest and pun-
1shment he decided to emigrate to
America.

for Philadelphia, accompanied by

his-brothers, who were more or less

implicated “with him," arriving in
the above named year.
after went to live in a Welsh settle-
ment in Chester county, in the vicin-
1ty of Philadelphia,
'with Chaplain Jones, a Welsh min-

ister, who was the subject of Pio--

neer Paper No. 10. Gen. Anthony
Wayne was also a resident of Ches-
ter county. and when he organized

the expedition against the Indians.

in the North West" Territory in 1794,
through the influence of Chaplain

Jones, appuinted John H. Ehllhps*

2 ‘member of his staff,

"These sons of Mr.
hps succeeded after much persua-
sinn, in ohbammg the consent of
thieir father, who was a2 man of
wealth, to close hlS business affairs
and follow them to America. Mr.

| South Wales,

Accordingly he sailed

They soon.

‘Here -they met.

Thomas Phil-

' Theophilus Rees, a neighbor and
friend of Mr. Thomas Phillips, _both
residents of Carmarthenshire ‘in
who was likewise a
man of liberal means, after a full
consideration of the subject, also.de-
cided to try his fortunes in the New
Wozild, and forthwith proceeded-to
make arrangements to that end..—
They accordingly closed up their
business, and when that was-accom-
‘plished they bade adieu to their na-
tive hills in ‘Wild Walia,” "and sail-
ed in the ship ‘Amphion, Capt. Wil-
liams, on the first day :of April,
1795, (or as some accounts have it
in 1796), for the United States,
where they arrived safe]y after a
passage of nine weeks. Many:of
their old Welsh neighbors, by ar-
rangement, through the kind gener-
osity of Messrs. Phillips-and Rees,
came as emigrants in the same ship
with them, though many of them
were unable to pay their passage,
but agreeing to do so upon earning
the money, after their arrival here.
In October after their- arrival
most of this colony removed-to Big
_Valley in ~ Chester county, Peénnsyl-
vania, where there was'a Welsh set-
tlement. Mr. Theéophilus Rees-and
Mr. Thomas Phillips lived for some
time ‘in “or mear Fhiladelphia; but
.both soon removed te the Welsh
settlement in Chester’ county Here,
however, they did HOt remain long;




but seon,( probably in 1797, )they,to-
gether with others of theu' counftry-

men, who had . -crossed the -Atlantic

with them, removed to Bulah, Cam-
bria county, Pennsylvania, ‘where
they formed a portion of a consid-
erabie . Welsh. settlement.. In this
commumty Mr. Phllhps son Thom-
as, who came over in 1787, died in
1801 The - other Sen,. Erasmus,
John H. ‘Phllhps brother, died in
New Yorksome years later.

In 1801 or earlier, when all our
county counstituted Licking town-
ship, Fairfield county, Mr. Thomas

t

Phillips and Mr. Theophilus Rees
purchased two thousand acres of:

land,"

situated in what is now the-

North eastern Quarter of Granville :

township.
Kean. township line, and extended
almost to Newark township. They
purchased of Mr. Sampson Davis, a
Welshman- of TPhiladelphia, . ho
was- then an extensive dealer in
Western. lands. The pulchmse was
_made, upon _the condition that the

land proved uvon a view of it to be

It bordered on the Me- | and gratification of the former, un-

sitated the performance of at lesst a
portion of the returm journey to
Cambria county, on foot, by the lat-
ter. On arriving at the Ohio river
at or near Fort Pitt, now Pittsburg,
much to his surprise,  and very
greatly to his gratification, he found
his horse, standing upon the banks,
waiting patlently for the waters to
flow past, so as to enable him to
pursue his homeward journey, hay-
ing given undoubted manifestations
of dissatisfaction with his first ex-

: periment of living in the wilderness. -
: M.

Rees and - his horse went
through the process of a very cordial
renewal ot their former acquaint-
ance, and traveled on in harmony
together, to the very great eomfort:

til they arrived at their mutual Cam-
brian home in the Alleghanies.

In 1802 Mr. Theophllus Rees with
his family—David Lewis, a son-in-
law of Mr. Rees, and David Thomas,
another (son -in-law, with their fami-

lies, and Simon James, witkhowt his

fannly, left their homes in Buldh,

as represented, the puxchasers not ; Cambria county, Pennsylvania, for

having seen it.
lain Jones, Morgan Rees .and Simon |

James were selected to view the:

land, who accepted the commissicn,
dlscharoed the duty. assigned them,
and made such areport. as to result in
the ratification of the contract.
Rees,. and .his. son-in-law,
Lewis, vis‘ited
1801.

this purchase ‘in

philus Rees sent Lis. son John,
10 erect a cabin and clear some of
hie .land, (the western  half of the
teact baving become his), and sow it
in wheat, so as to furnish bread for
the. fa.mlly upon their arrival, during
the next year. He did so—-—cleared
the land, sowed it in wheat, and har-
rowed it. by dragging brush over it
. with.his own hands, to cover it, his
horse having. strayed. away. He al-
80 erectqda hut or . cabin which he
-occupied dutmg this initial effort at
‘farming . in the wilderness. . His
korse and himself having uneere-
moniously ‘parted company, neces-

Mr..
David.

Accordingly Chap- l the purpose of permanently occupy-

ing and improving the Welsh Hills
purchas‘e; Mr. James was to build
a cabin on. the Phillips tract, and
clear some land, and then to réturn
to Cambria, whlch he did. He, how-
ever, removed with his famlly to the
Welsh Hills settlement in 1804.—
Upon the arrival of this colony of

, | Weslern emigrants at or near Wheel-
La.te in the- same year Mr. Theo-

ing, they fell in with a frontiersman,
hunter, scout and Indian-fighter, by
the name of ‘Jimmy J ohnson, who
felt quite willing to be transferred to
regions farther West, as scouting
and Indian- fighting, as occupations,
had by this time, in a great meas-
ure, become obsolete in thzi loecali-
ty. Mr. Rees tkinking that an ex-
pertin those occupations, and a man
of - such diversified genius and tal-
ents, might bé useful {c him in his
wilderness hcme, engaged  him to
accompany him, stipulating to sell

‘him one’ hundred acres of land, to

be paid for in such services as he
might be able to render. On their
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arrival at Zanesville Mr. David
Thomas found a demand for the
services of a stone mason, which he
could render, he therefore remained
to work for some time, when he
came to Newark and lived in a cab-
in on the St. Nicholas lot, until he
built & cabin on his land, and then,
late in the same year, or early in
1803, removed to the Welsh Hills
and occupied his cabin.

Mr. David Lewis-stopped in New-
ark, and worked there as a stlone-
mason. His father-in- law,Theophilus
Rees, having given bim one hun-
dred acres of hls land. Mr. Lewis
soon took measures to occupy it,
which he did by the erection of 2"
cabin, with the help of Patrick Cun.
ningham and his somns. Mr. Cun-
ningham was from the County Ty-
r'cmez province of Ulster, Ireland,
and settled- in 1801 on what has
since been known as the Munson
farm, and was the second settler -in
Granville township. Mr. Lewis’
cabin was probably built in 1802,
but there being a2 demand ‘for stone
masonry  in Newark. during the
years 1802 —’03, the two first vears
of its existence, he did not leave
there to occupy his cabin and im-
prove his land until near the close
of the latter year..

But - Theophilus ‘Rees, Simon
James, ‘Jimmy Johnson’ and David
Thomas established themselves on
the Hills in I802, Mr. Rees most
likely temporarily occupymg, with a
portion of his family and 1laborers,
until a better one could he erected,
the'hut or'cabin put up by his son
the year before; and Messrs. John—
son, Thomas and Lewis construct—
ing cabins for themselves and fami-
lies, ‘although the last named did
not occupy his until the next year.
Simon James’ occupancy, however,
in accordance with the original in-
tention, was at this time only tem:
porary. Theophilus Rees, David
Lewis, David Thomas, Simon James,
and ‘Jimmy Johnson,” were, there-
fore, the Welsh Hills Pioneers.—
DavidThomas was afterwards knewn:
as big Davy Thomas, to distinguish

him from a smaller man of the same
name, also a son-in-law of Theophi-
lus Rees, and who in 1810 settled on
the pnrchase of Mr. Rees, he hav-
ing been presented with one lmn-
dred scres of it.

Theophilus Rees, the patriarch of
the Welsh Hills, was a gentleman
and & scholar—a man of intelli-
gence, integrity, and ot great usetul-
ness to his countrymen and to the
church.. He was favorably noticed
in Pioneer Paper No. 14, by Capt.
Munson, and T transcribe from
Howe’s History of Ohio the follow—
ing inciden’ of him which occurred
in the early days of the *Welsh
Hills Settlement,’and which pertains
properly to its hlstory, and is entit-
led to my effort in-this connection,to
incorporate it into this paper of
our locsal records and biographical
sketches. .

“Deacon Theophilus Rees, a
Welsh Baptist, settled in 1802 in
tbe wilderness abouv one mile and a
half north of the plesent village of
Granville, which was then an unbro-
ken wilderness. The Granville
Company settled upon the site of
that village in November, 1805.—
During those intervening three
years Descon Rees had not enJoyed
a single opportunity of public relig-
ious worship. His cows had stray-
ed away, and one Sunday, hearing a
lowing of cattle, which turned out to
be. those of the Granville colony, of
whose arrival he had not heard, ke
set out towards them, thinking they‘
were his own without any doubt.—
As he ascended the hills everlook-
ing tir¢ town plat, he heard the’
singing of the new °ett1ers, in ‘the
act of public worship.  The rever-
beration of the sound from hill- tops
and trees, threw the good man into
a serious dilemma. “The music at
first seemed to be behind,then in
theltops of the trees or the. clouds,’

He stopped, till by accurate lis-
tening he caught the dlrectlon of
the sound, and went on. over- the

brow of the hill where he saw on the

level before him a congregatxon en—
gaged in publi¢ worship, in the for:



6

est. On reac hing - home he told his

wife his-interesting experiences and

dlsccwenes, axd observed that ‘the
promise of God is a bond,’ 2 Welsh
phrase signifying that we have se-
curity equal to a bord that religion
will. prevail everywihere.
‘these must be good peOple—-I am
not afraid to go among them.” Al-~
though Deacon Rees understood
English imperfectly, he yet, after-
ward constantly attended the meet-

ings.of the Granville colony, (which!
were held every Sabbath), until the

organization of the Welsh Hills
Chureh in 1808, of whose h1story
mention will be made in this paper.”
Thls incident made such an im-
pxessmn on the mind of Deacon
Rees that . he ceased not to relate it
ever afbelwa.rds while he lived,when
he found himself in the company: of
his pioneer friends, and new-comers.
Such was the charm of that music
i tb.e wilderness, from so mfny
Ny omes, that the-relation of the inci-
Gent, espectally to christian listen
ers, was always en)oyed by him as a
great luxury. And no marvel.

‘ John H. Phllhps, the college boy ;

of 118:——-t,he youthful sedluous wri-
ter of Wales,—who left his country
in haste, to secure his own safety,az-
rived for the first time on the Welsh
Hills in 1803 or the year after, but
he remamed only tfor a. short time.—
He returned to Chester county,

where his family lived, and superin-
ten,ded the constructmn -of a bridge.

over: the Schuylkill river at Phila-
delphla. . In 1806 he removed to the
W.elsh Hills, where he taught school
and ‘made himself 'rbnerally /usetul
for. about elorht: years, when' he re-
moved to (}mcmnatl, where he died
‘in. 183‘7 He was one of the earliest

s,choul Leachers on the Welsh Hills,

and was a man of fair abllltles and

good scholarslnp, who made  his

,marl w,herever he . was He. held
some. official posu‘.wns in Cincinnati,

and was. greatly esteemed there as a |
man of energy, mt'.eom;y and useful-’

ness, - His father's. purpose to ‘make
-8 thorough scholar of him was, de-

feated by the young. man’s. _severe]

He said

5 1813.

strictures upon his government, as
already stated, whieh induced on
his part a somewhat hurried depart-
ure for ‘the land of the free.’

Thomas Phllhps was largely en-
gaged in business in Cambria coun-
1y, Pennsylvania, and moving upon
his-land, immediately,was found im-
pr acticable. He, however, visited it
in 1804, accompanied by his wife,
whose adaptation to frontier life,
and business capacity and energy
' and torce of character were proverb-
ial. They remained for some time
and then returned to Bulah, in Cam-
bria county, with the determmatlon
to bring tLeir business affairs there
to a close anG locate themselves
perma.nennly_ upon their own ample
possessions in the North West Ter-
ritory. . This was accomphshed i
| two years, therefore in 1806 Mr.
i Thomas Phillips and his family ar-
rived. at the ‘Welsh Hilis settle-
ment,” where he lived until his
i death, 'which cceurred May 26th,
- She died some years beforev
in ' Philadelphia, 'whither she had
o-one on business.

- Mr> Phillips, like' his neighbor
tand friend. Deacon Rees, was &
well educated gentleman of large
experience and extensive intorma-
tion and reading. If is a singular
fact that these veteran.pioneers died
in the same year, and within a few
months of each other, Mr. Rees in
February and Mr. P,hllhps in May,
after ha.vmg lived together asneigh-
bors in Wales—in eastern Pennsyl-
vania—ir. Cambria county, Pa.,—on
the Welsh Hills—and also tempo-
rarily on ship-board while. c1oss1nor'
the 'Atlantic! In friendly compan-—
ionship through a life .of many years
they lived and death did not long
separate them.

-In 1803 Jarmes fvans, Dawd Lew-
is, James James,. anda, Mr. Shad-
wick, who however was not a Welsh-
man, settled on the Welsh Hills, =~
Thomas Cramex, sSon- m-law of
*Jimmy Johnson, and hlS bI‘Othcl
J?’eter Cramer, came from West. Vir-
giniain 1804, as did also Mr. Simon
James, who two yeals before accom-
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pamed the Rees: colony. Durmg the
years 1805 and I806 John Price,
Benjamin Jones, John H. Phillips
and Thomas Powell were added to
the list'of Welshmen in the Welsh
Hills settlement.

Samuel! oJ. Phillips and “Thomas
Owens were among the Welsh set.
tlers of ;1807 and 1808 and Jacob
Reily and a - Mr. McLane, not
Welshmen, were mimwrants of the
same years. Morris Morrls, David
James and Joseph Evans, father of
Joseph and Lewis, of Newark, came
in 1809, and ‘httle David Thomas,’
son-in-law of Theophilus Rees, and
Mr.*Samuel White, sr., came in
1810. Mr. White was ‘s son-in-
law of Mr. Thomas TPhillips,
and though mot ‘a2 Welshman
albeit his wife was a native of Wales,
he yet became very closely identified
with the history of the «“Welsh Hills-
settlement.”” He wsas born March
4th - 1762 in Petexborouoh near’
Boston in Massachusetts. He was’
favored with a partial collegiate edu-
cation, but before the oomplenon of.
his collede course he commenced a
gea-faring career Whmh he pursued
for twelve, years.” He visited the
four’ qualters of the. globe, while a
seaman, and during that time. was
ship-wreeked near- Ca.pe Horn. He
thereupon resolved upon abandoning
the life of a sailor, which he did, up-

phia. Here he entexed into the em-’
ployment of Mr. Thomas Phillips, in
the capacity of’ a teamster, in 1797
who was running a wagon line “be-
tween Phﬂadelphm and the Welsh
settlement 1n Cambria county.} Here
he intermarried in the same year
with the daughter of his employer.
He remained in Cambria county un-
til 1810, when he 1emov d- to the
Welsh Hills.

Soon after his arnval there, the
settlers on the <Hills’> met in f01 ce,
and  welcomed the new-comer by
building him a cabin. They celébrat-
‘ed the Christmss of 1810, by cutting
down the tiees, and raising the cabin

roof; splitting and hewing “the trées

| ness, and upright character.

{ Jonathan and Samuel.

for the floor, building the chimiey

and making and hann'mg the door,
8o that it was occupied by thestran--
ger and his family «f night. Suach

was the early-time pieneer hospitali:

ty and' neighborly kindness on the
Welsh Hills, and in the Judcrment
of charity, their methiod of spending
‘the hohday was not very ObJeCtIOH-
able. _

Mr, White was a man of more than
common intelligence and education-—
of an mqulslmve mind.-and extensive
reading—of independence and frank-
He was
the Iathel of 'a number of sons, the
most conspicuous of whom were
Mr. Whitc
closed his eventful career Sept. 13th
1851, at the good old age of elﬂ‘ll'ﬁ) ,
nine years.

Jonathan White, son of the 101e-
going was ‘born in. Cambxm County,
Pa., in 1800, and came to the “Welsh
Hﬂls, wﬂ:h his fatherin 1810. He
became a good scholar under the
‘teaching of Rev Thomas Baird, of
Newark, and was a young man of
very ﬁne talents, excelling in oratory.
Had he lived to m1ddle life he would
doubtless have become dxstmcrmshcd
as a public speaker, but. he dled in
1827, at the dge of tw enty-seven; in
Stark county, Ohlo, where he was
engaged at that time as a Canal Con-

' txactm
on his arrival at the City of Phll‘tdel- .

Samuel White, Jr., was. b01n in .
the W'elsh Hills settlement \iarch 3d°
1812. He was ambitious in the mat-
ter of obtaining an education, and
entered the Granville College as the’
Jirst student on the list on the first
day of the first term of said College.
Here -he recmained fornsome tlme, but
difficulties growing, out of "discus-
sions of the . slaverv question led
him to complete his College course,
at Oberlin.  After Ieavmo- College’
in 18386, he entered the law office ot‘
the late Col. Mathiot, as a student,.
and was admitted to the. Bar in
1837. He continued in tli¢ pra,ctlce of’
‘the law tntil bhis’ death whiajp took’

| place July 20th 1844, Heé was a
and-riving-the clap-boards for - thel

successful candldate for" thée" Sta,te;
Leoqslature m ‘1843, and bécaiié a




leadei in that: body. In 1844 he re-
ceived thenomination of the “Whig

party ‘for Congress in the District

composed of the counties of Knox;
Licking and Franklin, in opposition

to Col. C. J. McNulty, one of the

most able.and accomplished stump
speakers and political campaigners
in'Ohio. - They conducted ihe. can-

vas with extraordinary vigor, and it

is generally conceded that. 1t was
owing to the herculean labors of Mr.
White &urmg this campaign that he
contracted a fever which so: utterly
prostrated him as to end in his death,
Columbus Delano, took his place. on

theticket and was. elected by a ma-,

Jorxty of twelve votes.
Sam Whlte, for sometime edlted

in part, the New‘uk Gazette, but in

this  vocation it cannot be szud that he

exhibited extraordinary ability. He7

was not remarkable as a writer.
‘He made the. reception speech in;

1843; on the occasion of the arrival

of Ji ohn Qum(,y Adams, in Newark,

-have been a pre-eminent success.
Samuel White, Jr., was a- man of

remarkable force' and power as a.

public’ speaker. Tt- is undoubtedly
true, that his equal as an orator, be-
fore a promiscuous assembly, and in

s certainkind ~of cases before ajury,

has never been pxoduced
r'mtnty 'of Licking.

in. ‘the
‘He was wither-

ing in’ s'u'casm—-of unsurpassed pow-

er’in’ mvectwe——exceedmcrly ready
and- ‘pointed in repartee, and- of very.
o-rea,t seventy in‘strictures upon par-
ty reasures” and party leaders. In

whelming..
quotatmns I'have never heard him
excelled. To workup an audience

to'tever heat in excitement, was, with-

]nm, of . easy’ aceomphshment and

tosway: ‘the multitude by his inflaxn--
matory a.ppeals, was afeat he could

perform in double. quick time.. He

was indeed a man ot Wondgrful pow-'

er; and his early death is all, that, in

my ‘opiffion, prevented him from tak— |

‘ing . afrent rank amon.g the popular
orators ‘of Aanerica.

3

declan‘-atory harangues and in satiri--
cal ovatory he was perfectly over-
In aptness of Scriptural

~In loglcal ak-’

&

b

'early days,
‘was a Bapt:tst Preacher, a ' Welshman

gumenfation, in philosophical -rea-
goning, in legal acumen or:ability he
did not excel, but in the elements of
a populm stump - orator, young .as

‘he was, he has had but. few equals,

and fewer superiors. Many still re-
member that he and B. B.: Tay101,
Esq., a Demaocratic champlon, made
much musicofthe wrangling,discord-
ant sort, during the famouslog-cabin
and hard-cider campaign of 1840.
They were often pitted. against each -
other in the three or four subsequent
contests, producing: uniformly musi¢

' of the harshest sort.

Sam White was fearless, independ-
ent, outspoken, frank, honest, never
uttering opinions he did not beheve,
and ‘always .gave. expression to
thoughts he enterta.lned ,without ‘fear,
favor or affection.” In the famous
crusades of his. tlmes against Slavery.
and Tntemperance, he was always
in the front ranks, playing the part.of
Richard, the lion~hearted, and play-

ing it’ well
which was’ umversally conceded" to

e asserted-the right of free dis-
cusmon-—-—mdeed he became the ac-
knowledged champion of the . free-
dom of the Preéss and . Speech and
more than once braved 1crnorant in-
furiated, brutal mobs who tyra.mcally

-depied the liberty of" speech. Sam

White never shrank from iheopen
avowal of his sentiments under 1y
amount ofpopularodzum, and there-
in Re attained in -those heroic. times,
to the htghest poent of zndependent
manhood. He and 1 held opposing
politieal opmlons. but we were in har-
mony on the question of theright of
free discussion; and now, after. he has
been a tenant of the torab . a quarter
of,a century, I avail myself with the
highest degree of pleasure of the op-
portumty which this occasion affords
to bear testimony to one of nature’s
h1crh13 gifted ones, with whom T was
not in pohtlcal harmony, and some-
times not on terms of frlendly per-
sonal relations. But he had-a noble
nature and was therefore placable,

forgiving, generous, maonanlmous

One of the uncommon men, ‘of the
;on the ¢“Welsh Hills,”



of an sccentric . character, who was
generally known as Chaplain Jones.
He passed current among our early
Welsh setflers to whom he made long
visits, as an odd genius, whose lead-
ing characteristic was vanity, which
he exhibited by wearing the military
toggery of a Chaplain, long after he
was placed on the peace establish-
ment. Heis still remembered by a
few of our Pioneers, as a man of
‘pomp and circumstance,” whose
chief glory it.was that he had been a
Chaplain in the army of Gen. Wayne.
He was noted for doing every thing
that he did with a fleurish—a grand
swell. He always wore the gqueue
the cocked hat, the small cockade,
the shoe and knee buckles, and
breeches—-in short the dress of a gen-
tlemen of the ‘“clden times.”” Chap-
lain Jones, though vain and pedantic,
was a good - scholar and a talented
prea,cher

Chaplain Jones came over from
Wales, sometime before the Indian
war of 1794 and settled in Chester
eounty, Pennsylvania. Gen. Wayne
appointed him a Chaplain in his
army.- Sometime thereafter he set-
tled in Cambria connty, in Western
Pennsylvania,
acquaintance of Theophilus Rees. Af-
ter this he removed to the “Flats of
Grave Creek,” a few miles below
Wheeling, on the Ohio River After
his friend and Baptist brother, The-
ophilus Rees, removed to the Weish
Hills he received frequent visits from
him, and enjoyed the benefit of his
ministerial. services. He acquired
valuable possessions on the Owl
Creek, in Knox county, but never
moved there, nor into eur county.

Howe’s History of Ohio says, “that
the first Baptist sermon preached in
Granville, was preached by Elder
Jones in 1806. This ¢“FElder” Jones
was in all probability, ¢ Chaplain
Jones.’"

«Chaplain Jones” died at his resi-
dence on the “Grave Creek Flats”
about the year-1815.

‘A ‘Welshman, who passed cuuent
on the *Hills” as Dr. Thomas, set-
tled: there about the year 1828. He

where he made the !
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derived most of his consequence from
the fact that he placed five sons into
the Baptist ministry, who, were all
more or less distinguished. They
were named David, John Benjamin,
Daniel and Evan, and all entel ed the
pulpit whileyet very young.

David, the eldest was for a num-
ber of years pastor of the Baptist
Church in Newark, as was also Ben-
jamin. David was a man of wonder-
ful volubility in the Pulpit, and rank-
ed with the first class of  the school
known as ‘‘revival orators.” - His
brothers also had similar gifts, and
were all liberally endowed with tal-
ents as public speakers. They were
remarkable men whose fame spread
abroad, and who made considerable
stir in the world as pulpit orators of
more than average natural powers
They never enjoyed superior educa-
tional adva,ntftoes, nor attained to
any chstmctmn in scholarship. 1
think they have all deceased, except
Benjamin.

From the foregoing it will be seen
that the pulchase of Messrs Rees
and Phillips, formed the nucleus of
the Welsh settlement in Licking
i county. Theophilus Rees settled
upon his half of the purchase, . and
surrounded himself by his sons
Theophilus and John and his sons-
in-law the two David Thomas’ and
David Lewis, and his hunter ¢“Jim-
my Johnson,” giving to each of
them a hundred acres or thereabouts,
of his land.

Myr. Thomas Phillips, settled upon
his portion of the purchase, and like-
wise surrounded himself by his sons
and sons-in-law, giving to each of
his sons John H. and Samuel J.,
about one hundred acres and to his
.sons-in-law, Thomas Owens, Samuel
White, William Morrison and.John
Evans, an equal quantity, the two.
latter I'owever never occupied it.
Morrison lived on land in the near
vicinitly, but Evans never came to
Licking county. To a grand-daugh-
ter Mr. Philips gave two hundred
acres, but she never occupied it.

It is impracticable -to give - the
names of the immigrants from Wales,.
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who settled in Licking county, in
each year, subsequent to the year
1810. It would extend this paper
to an unreasonable length, to go in-
to details, to that extent. And itis
highly probable that the names of a
number of those who came here be-
Sfore that time have been omitted.
Suffice it to say however that ad-
ditions were made to the number
from vear to year, so that, notwith-
standing the numerous deaths and
removals the number of the Welsh
inhabitans of Licking county, includ-
ing those who are in whole or in
part of Welsh parentage, cannot be
inuch less than two thousand five
hundred, at the present time. They
live principlly in the <Welsh Hills
Settlement,”” and in the city of New-
ark and village of Granville.

Of those immigrants from Wales
who settled on the “Welsh Hills”
after the year 3810, I name Daniel
Grifith (1812) Walter Griffith and
Nicodemus Griffith, (1815), David
Pittsford  (1816) and Hugh Jones
(1819).

"Edward Price and Edward Glean
came in 1821, and Rev. Thomas
Hughesin 1822. Accessions continu-
cd to be made at intervals, to the
population of the Welsh Hills, from
Wales, but, as above indicated, it
would be found tedious to extend
the list of names. Of the above nsm-
cd Daniel Griffith was a man ofiuch
more than common shrewdness and
natural ability. Walter and Nico-
demus Griffiths were also valuable
men in the community.

Of those members of the families
of Messrs. Rees and Phillips, who
came from Wales in 1795, Mrs Eliza-

veth Thomas, wife of ¢little David |

Thomas,”” and daughter of Theophi-
us Rees, was .the last survivor. She
died May 3d 1855, after a residence
in America of sixty years.

There are still fewo survivors of
the ship load of emigrants of 1795,
who came to Licking county. These
are Esther James, widow of Edmund
James, and daughter of Daniel Grif-
fith ; and Phebe Owens, widow of

Rev. Owen Owens, and daughter of
Simon James.

LOCATION, BOUNDARIES AND DESCRIP—
TION OF THE ‘‘WELSH EILLS.”

The portion of the county of Lick-
ing in which the first Welsh settlers
located, has ever since*been known
and designated as the <“Welsh Hills
Settlement.”” 1t was originally lim-
ited to the north-east quarter of
what is now the Township of Gran-
ville, but the settlement gradually
extended in all directions; and its
present boundaries, although some-
what indefinite, may be given with
some degree of spproximation to
accuracy. The Welsh Hills Seutle—
ment is mainly within the townships
of Newark and Granville, but it ex-
tends slightly into the townships of
Newton and McKean. It begin sat
Sharon Valley, at a point about two
miles north-west of Newark, and ex-
tends in a north-westerly direction
into McKean township, and is
vetween five and six miles long. 1t
has a width ot four miles or more,
extending on the notrth-east into
Newton Township, its south-west-
ern boundary being in Granville
township, near the village of Gran-
ville. It is all between the road
running north from Newark to Uti-
ca, and that running west to Alex-
andria. -

The country known as the Welsh
Hills as its title implies, belongs to
the class designated as 27lly, but it
may be regarded as rather fertile,
particularly in the production of the
cereals. It was originally all heav
ily timbered, but is now mosily
cleared land. Farms generally are
not large, and some timber, suffi-
cient for present and prospective
purposes, is found on each of them,
with rare exceptions.

A considerable quantity of level
and slightly undulating land is
found on most of the farms, which
produces corn and different varieties
of grasses well. Soft water springs
abound, and it may be considered
one of the best watered sections of
Licking county, altheugh the
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streams are small. 'The principal
springs are described in Pioneer Pa-
per No. 35.

The ¢“Welsh Hills Settlement” has
always been regarded as one of rare
salubriousness, healthfulness being
the rule among the hardy, robust
inhabitants, and sickness the excep-
tion.

HARDSHIPS AND PRIVATIONS OF
WELSH PIONEERS.

The earliest settlers on the “Welsh
Hiills’ endured great hardships and
privations, both in reaching their
wild, western homes, and during
the ﬁrst few years after their arriv-
al. They had to cut out roads to
enable them to get to the spot, with
wheeled vehicles, selected for their
future homes; and the roads over
which they travelled, after crossing
the Ohio River, were ot recent con—
struction, and but litile better than
biind paths through the woods.—
They generally came in wagons, but
a few are said to have brought their
families in canoes to Zanesville.

Indians often visited the <Welsh
Hills Settlement,” in early times, but
they were not hostile. A sortof a
chief, named ‘Big Jo,” and a few of
his followels, were frequent visi-
tors at the house of David Lewis, as
is still distinctly remembered by
one of the members of his family,
Mrs. Apn Cunningham, wife of
John Cunningham, and who was of-
ten present during their visitations.
They did no harm to the settlers ex-
cept to {righten the women and
children, and were therefore not
very welcome visitors among the
pioneers.

Wolves were very troublesome
to the early settlers on the “Welsh
Hills.” It is related of a son of The-
ophilus Rees, that on one occasion,
when some ways from the house in
the night time, a pack of wolves
surrounded and treed him, and then
proceeded to gnaw at the tree and
. to menacmgly demonstrate other--
wise against him, while resting on
the lower limbs of a smasall tree, evi-

THIE

him as their prey, much to his dis-
comfort. In these hostile acts they
had made considerable progress
when some of the settlers, who had
been very opportunely drawn thith-
er by the vnusually fierce howlings
of the hungry beasts, rescued him.
On frequent occasions in the might
season. the wolyves would gather in
force around persons passing from
one cabin to another, who had to be
relieved by their friends armed with
guns  forches.

Mre. Cunningham, above mention-
ed, states that one mcrht while ler
brothers, sons of Dav1d Lewis, and

herseif, were engaged in boﬂmg
sugar, near their father’s house, a

pack of wolves surrounded them
and assumed such threatening atti-
tudes as to render it necessary for
their parents and their neighbcrs to
disperse them, which they did with
the aid of torches and firebrands,and
perbhaps with powder and lead too.
They were held at bay by the boys

in the sugar camp, with the free use
of their tuebmnds, but the almost
entire exhaustion of their fuel, be-
fore the arrival of assistance, render-
ed their condition extremely penl-
ous.

Bears were numerous. and panth-
ers much less so, but they -were
both enemies more or less formida-
ble, of the Welsh Hills Pioneers.

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE WELSH SET-
TLERS IN LICKING COUNTY.

The early time Welsh immigrants
to Licking county, with but few, il
any exceptions, had but a limited
knowledge of the English language.
They also tenaciously maintained
the necessity, propriety and import-
ance of perpetuating the use of
their own vernacular, in their wilder-
ness homes. In these viewsthey did
not differ from the Germans and oth-
er foreign nationalities, and it.is alto-
gether reasonable and natural to en-
terfain such ideas. Settled together
on contiguous tracts of land, and in
near proximity to each other, and
forming a community by themselves,
composed almost exclusively of

dently for the purpese of securing)} Welshmen, who spoke Welsh, and
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who knew little of any -other lan-
guage, they were enabled for many
years, to attain to their wishes, and
give practical effect Lo their notions
with a good degree of success; and
the resu.t was that the Welsh lan-
guage, and no other, coutinued to
be spoken in many of these families;
for a long series of years. The
views they entertained, and the cir-
cumstances surrounding them.grow-!
ing out of their own inability to con-
verse in English, and the utter ig-
norance of the Welsh language on
the part of those composing contig-
uous neighborhoods, made their
condition of mnecessify, one of iso-
lation, of apparent exclusiveness, or
as it appeared to some, of clannish-
ness. But this was no fault, if fault
it was, of their’s. - It was one of the
inevitable necessities growing out
of . their condition. Surrounding
circumstances hayve generally a large,
indeed a controlling influence in
forming character, and they only
yielded to the law of convenience,
of mnecessity, which forbade unre-
strained familiar intercourse Le-
tween the inhabitants of this Welsh
settlement, and outsiders who spoke
another language and understcood
not a word of their’s. Under these
circumstances unrestricted social in-
tercourse with their neighboring
American fellow.settlers was found
to be measurably impracticable, and
our Welsh pioneer friends were
necessarily confined in their inter—
change of the usual courtesics of
good neighborship to their own
countrymen. Such surroundings
neceseitated a degree of exclusive-
ness. Such a combination of cir-
cumstances very naturally produced
the state of isolation and social con-
dition in which they lived.

The settlement established by the
Welsh Pioneers, Theophilus Rees,
David Thomas aud Simon James in
1802, in our county, as a nucleus
around which their countrymen soon
rallied. in comsiderable force, has
‘ever since been known as the ‘Welsh
Hills Settlement.” There the de-
scendants of the-early settlers, to-|

gether with many others .of their
countrymen, more recent ‘immi-
grants, still live; and there Welsh
habits and characteristics, though
somewhat modified, still predomi-
nate. It was wise in them, coming
from a far country, into this then
western wilderness, to settle togeth-
er and form a community by them-
selves, thereby securing mutual pro-
tection, mutual aid, and greatly in-
creased facilities for social enjoy-
ment and for mental and moral im-

jprovement, by the establishment of

suchb schools and churches as they
desired. As already intimated many
of the older persons of the early
Welsh settlers never succeeded in
acquiring a’knowledge of the Eng-
lish language, or even such a
knowledge of it as to understand it
thoroughly, when spoken by others ;
and by living together in & communi-
ty by themselves, the necessity of
understanding and speaking the
language of the country in which
they lived became less imperative.
Their children however, generally
overcame the obstacle, and some of
the adults acquired such a knowl-
edge of our langage as to understand
it when spoken, without being able
to respond in it, while many of them
ultimately both wunderstood and

| spoke the common colloquial lan-

guage of the backwoodsmen of our
country with a good degree of facil-
ity and accuracy. All their descend-
ants of the present generation, both
understand and speak it with faeili-
ty., and receive most of their educa-
tion and training in it. Religious
instruction is  still given them in
three churches in Granville town-
ship and in two churches in the city
of Newark, in Welsh.

Our Welsh pioneers and their de-
scendants, as well as the present
Welsh population of Licking. coun—
ty, may be characterized as pre-em-
inently religious, adhering generally,
either to the Baptist, Methodist or
Congregational Churches. - They
are, with rare exceptions, Calvin-
Zstzc in their views, holding those
peculiar tenets, probably, in their
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milder forms. They are Calvinists|Oppression—of Liberty against Tyr-
at all events, whether Baptists.}|any—of Freedom against Slavery.
Methodists, or Congregationalists.; When Protection and Free Trade
Probably a larger proportion ofiwere contending for so many years,
them are church-goers and church ifor the supremacy in our govern-
members, than 1s to be found among ,mental policy, the Welsh voters
any other classes or nationalities of|generally rallied under the Protec-
our population, native or foreign.—ition flag. .

They spend more, very much more: When our Federal Union was 1mn-
time in their churches for the pur-:periled by traitors they were almost
pose of receiving and imparting re- universally loyal to the government,
ligious instruction and for devotion- and many of them went forth, like
al exercises, than is usual with other: hero—patriots, to meet the cohorts
churches, and with other classes of of Treason in deadly conflict on the
our citizens. And they are not sur- sanguinary battle field. But few of
‘passed by any other of our churches, ; them, if any, to their honor be it
or by any other exist.ing system of: spoken, .gave manifestations of SyII.l—-
moral training, in efforts to develope pathy with t.reason, during the 1§err1—
a high order of consistent christian, fbly deva_statmg war I{lade by traltgl‘sa
character. In the language of the'in the interest of Slavery, against
prophet, they make themselves ‘joy-i our government. The Welshmen of
ful in the house of prayer, and in'Licking wevre Patriots, theoretically
‘songs of the night’ they make mel-, and practically, and many of them
ody. The Welsh people of Licking;oﬁ'ered up their lives as a sacri-
county sustain five churches, exclu-' fice upon the altar of their coun-
sively, besides forming an i‘utegral'tl’)’*“Of"Hu}namty—‘Of Frc.aedom—-of
portion of a number of others, in;Unversal Liberty. Let 1_5h‘311' memory
- which they receive religious instrue- be ever gratefully cherished b}" their
tion in the English langusge.— Surviving countrymen and fellow—
Prominent among these is the Welsh Patriots.

Hills Baptist Church, which was or-, Our Welsh people have always
ganized with Welsh members, in, glVen encouragement to Schools,
great part, and sustained to a con—| and other agencies employed for

siderable extent, by them ever since.

Our Welsh fellow—citizens are al-
so, very generally, friends of Tem-
perance. When the Maine Law was
in issue, in 1853, they were its un-—
flinching friends, and have always
been opposed to free drinking and
in tavor of Temperance. KEspecially
zealous and ardent friends of Tem-
perance were they, during the pro-
gress of thé Washingtonian move-
ment in I841, and for several subse-
quent years.

During all the weary years of al-
most despairing hopelessness, in
which the fierce battle between Free-
dom and Slavery was raging in our
country, the Welsh population -of
Licking county, stood with great
unanimity, on the side of Right
against Robbery—of Humanity
against Barbarity—of Justice against

tmental and moral imprevement.
' They have been accustomed to read,
i reflect, reason, and mature their opin-
i ions, and when formed they adhere

i to them with great tenacity—indeed

ithey are proverbial for firmness, un-
! yielding determination, and decision
i of character. They hold their opin-
: ions because they believe them to be
{ correct, and they mnever give them
| up for the sake of accommodation—
i they don’t know how to do it-—they
'are positive men--men of convie-
i tions that are not to be surrendered,
| to please anybody. '

The denizens of the Welsh Hills
have always been up to the average
standard in infelligence and general
information. Sustaining Churches,
Schools and the Press as they do,
they could not well fail to reach a
fair condition of enlightenment..

| They place a full estimate upen
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money, but are nevertheless scrupu-
lously homest and conscientiously
upright; generally manifesting a
high degree of integrity in their busi-
ness relations. The present occu-
pants of the Welsh Hills, being the
descendants of the FPioneer settlers.
have become considerably American-
ized, readily adapting themselves to
American institutions, language,
habits, customs, ideas and modes of
thought. They are distinguished for
honesty, sobriety, industry, frugality
and good cilizenship generally, and
can justly claim a good degree
of exemption from debasing habits,
from indulgence in grovelling pro—
pensities, from drunkenness, and the
debauchery, vice and crime which
degrade humanity.
“Lives of zood men do remind us
We can make our lives sublime,

And departing, leave behind us
Foot-prints on the sands of Time.”

THE VIELéH HILLS BAPTIST CHURCH.

The Welsh Hills Baptist Church,
was organized Sept. 4th, 1808, in

the cabin of My». David Thomas, by-

Klder James Sutton, assisted by a
Mr. Steadman. 1t was styled the
“First Regular Baptist Church of
Granville, (the settlement in which
it was formed, being in Granville
township,) and continued to be
known by that name until 1819, when
upon the organization of the Regu—
lar Baptist Church, in the village of
Granville, its name was changed to
its present title, as above. This
church as originally organized, con-
sisted of nine members to-wit: The-
ophilus Rees, David Thomss, Jr.,
Nathan Allywn, Jr., David Lobdell,
Joshua Lobdell, Thomas Powell,
Elizabeth Rees, FElizabeth Jones,
and Mary Thomas. 'The organiza-—
tion of this church in the wilder-
ness, ‘was further perfected by the
elecsion of Theophilus Rees, to:the
office of Neacon, and Joshua Lob-
dell, to the office ot Clerk. This
church worshipped in private hous-
es for some time, but a log building
with a puncheon floor in i, 1 size
wbout 18 by 20 feet, was erected dur-

ing the year 1809, on the Rces pur-
chase, one.mile nerth-east of Gran-
ville, which was used more or less,
as a church and schcol-house, for
several years, when 2 building 20 by
24, feet was erected two miles north,
of round logs and puncheon floor
and pulpit. Mr. Phillips donated a
few acres of land in connection with
this church, for a cemetery, in which
he and many of kis family and des—
cendants were burried. In 1822,
this church was used as a school-
house,and accidentally burned down.
Deacon Theophilus Rees had also
donated some ground for a ceme-
tery where the original church was
built, which is still known as the
“Welsh Hills Cemetery,”” and in
which e and his family were buried.
It was given by him, Feb. 6th, 1808,

| and on said day Rees, son of David

Thomas, was buried therein, which
was the first interment. David Lew-
is, and Simon James, dug the grave.

These meeting houses were used
alternately, for the mutual accomo-
dation of the old people of these
neighborhoods. A school-house
which stood ai & point about mid-
way between these  meeting houses,
was used for some years for church
purposes, private houses also mean-
while being used more or less, as
well as the churches.

In 1823, a large hewed log meet-
ing house was built near the site of
the one that was burnt, where the
public services 09 the church were
conducted until 1834, when it too
was burnt, during its occupancy as
a schooi house. After it was burnt
a stone school-house on Rev. Thos.
Hughes’ farm, was occupied by the
church for two vears. At present
the meetings of this church are held
in a good frame meeting house which
stands near the old Cambria mills,
which was erected in 1836, and is
about 30 by 40 feet in size.

Deacon Theophilus Rees, may
justly be regarded as the founder of
the Welsh Hills Church. Through
his influence and exertions it was
organized, and four of his family
were of the original members of it
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He lived only about four years and
a half after its organization, when
it had attained to a membership of
thirty. He died in February 1813,
aged 66 years, and was icterred in
the Welsh Hills cemetery, which he
had dcnated for that purpose. He
exercised the  functions of deacon
until his death, and was a useful
and intelligent Christian Pioneer.

The Welsh Hills Church was
among the earliest organized in
Llcklna county. The small metho-
dist oro anization on Hog Run min-
istered to by Rev. Ass Shinn, in
1803—04—and the organization ef-

fected on the eastern borders of our!

county, through the instrumentality
and labors of Rev. Joseph Thrap, in
1805—06—together with the con-
gregational church of Granville, or-
ganized in Massachusetts, in 1805,
being the only ones of a prior date,
within the present Jimits of Licking
county.

This small chur ch bad preaching
very irregularly during the first two
years of its existence. Rev. Thomas
Powell preached occasionally, and
other pioneer preachers, braving the
dangers and privations incident to
life in the wilderness, sometimes
visited and preached for them. Still
. meetings were held regalarly, and
every month the church met for
praise and prayer. .

June 10th, 1810, Rev. J. W. Pat—
terson, who had 1ecently settled in
Licking county became the settled
pastor, and continued in that rela-
tion until 1816. He was a pop-
ular preacher, and the membership
smounted to torty when he closed
‘his labors with them.

Elder John Mott, of Xnox county,
was chosen pastor, and although
aged and infirm ke continued his
ministerial labors six years, Those
who united with the church during
his ministry are now the most aged
of its members.

During the year
Evans supphed the pulplt temporari-
ly.

For about a year there was no

1819, Elder Gebo. |

settled minister, During 1823, Mr.
Owen Owens, of this church, was-
licensed to preach, and during his
Missionary operations he organized
the “Liberty,’ ‘Genoa,” and ‘‘Ho-
mer” Churches. f

In March 1823, Elder Thomas
Hughes, a licentiate from Walcs,
who settled in the neighborhood,was
chosen pastor, and supplied the-
church regularly wuntil 1832, when
he resigned. During his ministry
the services were held in the stone
school house, which was built in
1825, and in the old log church,
owned by the Socliety.

Elder James Berry served the
church for one year after Elder
Hughes resigned. .

In 1833, Elder Hughes again be-
came the settled minister, and serv-
ed the church as such until 1841 —
The church increased in strength,
during his ministry, seventeen per-
sons uniting with it, during his last
year with them, and reaching an ag-
gregate of seventy one members.

Elder Hughes’ resignation wasas
very  reluctantly accepted—thc
church esteeming him as a man of
sound judgment, and of great wis-
dom in counsel.

Elder James Sargent, a young
man from the Graunville College,
served the church very acceptably
for one year. During his ministry,
thirty persons were received into
the church.

After Elder Sargeant’s resignation
Messrs Roberts and Owen, students
from the Granville College, supplied
the church for a year or more.

In 1844, Elder Davida Prichard,
recently from the State of New
Yorx, was chosen pastor, and
preached for this church two years.

In November, of the year 1846,
Elder William Smedmer, was en—
gaged to supply the church three
fourths of the time, which he did
until 1848, when he resigned.

He was succeeded by Elder E. S.
Thomas. who rem.ined about two
years.

In June 1849, Rev. J. W. Heist-
and, of Fairfield county, commen-
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ced an engagement to supply the pul-
pit three fourths of the fime, and
continued to do so two years.

In April 1851, Rev. Thomas
Hughes was called for the third time
to the pastorate of this church. In
September following he died, after
having been a member of the church
for fifty years, most of that time in
the ministry. He was a useful min-
ister—a valuakle citizen, and one of
the best of men.

The senior Deacon, also died dur-
ing this year, after a consistent
christian career ot more than sixty
years.

Rev. Dr. Bailey, President of
Granville College, and Rev. J. Law-
rence served the ciiurch for some-
time after the death ot Rev. Thom-
as Hughes.

Rev. N. Clouse was chosen pastor
in Feb. 1853, and served the church
two years, during which twenty per-
sons were added to the church,
measurably the result of revival ef-—
forts, of Rev. Benjamin Thomas, of
whom mention has already been
made.

In January 1855, Rev. Dr.
became the- regular minister, and
remained as such five years. Sev-
enty converts were made-during his
ministry, but the majority of them
soon grew weary in well-doing, and,
as chrlsmans were not a decided suec-
cess. Rev. E. D. Thomas assisted
Dr. Hall on many occasions.

Rev. N. Clouse again became the
regular pastor in Jan. 1863, and con-
tinued so for three years. He was
succeeded by Rev. B. J. Powell, who
also.continued three years and ad-
ded thirty members to the church,
mostly from the Sabbath sohool.

President Talbot supplied the
church for one year, and Rev. A.
Jordan followed him in a pastorate
of nine months. Rev. J. Kyle, the
minister now in charge of the
church, came next in order.

. During the sixty years of the ex-
istence  of this ehurch, it has had

Hall

‘seventeen pastors, and was vacant

four and a half years.

Rev. Thomas Hughes was pastor 17}5’ years.

J.Rev. W, Pa.tleraon, do de

Rev. John Moth . .- --do----..G do
Rev. Dr. Hall,- ---—'do NP do
Rev. N. Clouse, . ve:d@es-e..B do
Rev. David Prltchard - do-ee-..8 do
Rev. B. J. Powell. --do-- .3 do

The others for shorter periods.

Rev. Thomas Hughes was theonly
minister who died duri ing the period
of his ministry with thls Church.

This church has had thirteen dea-
cons, licensed nine persons to preach,
and ordained two.

Six of the deacons have died.

Theophilus Rees, in...........1813
David Thomas, in.....vee....1845
William Williams, in......... . 1847
David R. Jones,in......... .e.1852
Thomas Evans,in...,........1857
Eli Kellar,in. ... ... 0vu.... 1866

The Muskmcrum Association was
formed in this Church in May, 1811,
and in the huilding first erected, bV
Revs. William 31 undige, J acob
Drake, William Thrift and J. W.
Patterson. This Church remained
with said Association until 1841,
more than thirty years,wheu it united
with the Columbus Association with
which it still stands connected. The
Church records show the following
facts as to its membership.

Received by letter. ........ 133
Received by baptism...... 270
Received by experience... 8
Received by restoration. .. 13
Total .... ....... ese-.c 424
Dismissed by letter....... 182
Excluded.....c.ooovi . 93
Dropped........... . v 120
Died ..ot 64
Tolal.. ..ot as. 351
Present numbel ....... , T3

A flourishing Sabbath S(,hool has
been connected with this church from
early times to.the present day.

It may be observed that the pul-
pit services in this ¢hurch have been
only occasionally, conducted in the
Welsh language. Many of those who
have had charge of this church were
Welshmen or descendants of Welsh-
men,who could and often did, preach
in Welsh. But the preaching gener-
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ally in this echurch has been in Eng—
lish—exceptionally in. Welsh.

Thus you are presented with a
historical sketech of this church of
the Pioneers, in the wilderness. Its
founders and early -time members
came to these then far-off Western
lands for the improvement of their
pecuniary cendition, but they also
brought with them those christian
principles which led to the organiza-
tion of this Pioneer Church. They
‘were men ,of strong religious con-
victidns, and unfalter;ng faith in the
Bible, as containing the only rule of
conduct, and to the Messiah it re-
vealed as their Great dxemplar.

The old christian Pionéers of this
church, of sixty years ago, are all
gone! None remain of thosé even
who succeeded them during the first
decade. But most of their descend—
ants are proving themselves worthy
of such a noble ancestry, by fidelity
to truth and principle—by following
their example in efforts to pr omote
the welfare of their fellow—men, and
by the employment of means to bring
t0 bear upon posterity influences that
like the springs.that issue from their
hill-sides, are both pure and health-
ful.

THE WELSH CALVINISTIC METHODIST

- CHURCH IN SHARON VALLEY.

In 1832 William T. Williams, an
immigrant direct from Wales, and
Jemes Evans and Robert Walter,
Welshmen from Oneida county, New
York, settledin “Sharon Valley,” a
few miles from Newark, in the diree-
tion of the «Welsh Hills Settlement.”
At this time there was no regular
Welsh preaching in "Ricking ‘county,
and hence the foregoing persons uni-
ted temporarily - with  the English
Congregational Church in Gr anviile.

In the Spring of 1833 these set-
tlers in Sharon with other families
direct from Wales, who located -in
the valley, united with Walter and
Nicodemus Griffiths,
the year 1815,) in establishing a
Welsh Sabbath Schaol at the old
Stone School House, two miles North
East of Granville, on the Utica and
Granville road. This was the pion-

.8 minister

(immigrants of’

eer Welsh Sabbath School in Lick-
ing county,and probably in Ohio.
These settlers also sustained a regu-
lar-weekly Welsh prayer meeting.

In October 1834 Rev. Edward
Jones, travelled on foot frem his
home in Cincinnati to pleach a few
sermons to his counfrymen in ‘Shar-
on Valley,” and Granville. This feat
of clerical pedestrianism was repea-
ted by him in Gctober 1835. During
this visit he organized, on October
925th at the aforesaid Stone School
Houseé the Pioneer Welsh Church of
Liclking county, in which he had the

assistance of Rev. William Morgan,
| recently from Pittsburgh, Pa., but

living at this time at the Mary An:a
Furnace

The original members were  Wil-
liam T. Wﬂhams, Mrs. Williams,
James Evans, Mirs. Evans, Alban

‘Albans, Mrs, Albans, John J. Kvans,

Mrs. Evans, Robert Walter, William
Parry, William Lewis, Mrs. - Lewis,
Jenkin Hughes, John Jones, Mrs.
Kinor Hughes, Nathaniel Davis, Mrs
Dayvis, Mrs Albang, Miss Alba.ns,
and Miss Jane Davis.

Rev.William Parry was hcensed as
: of the Gospel, at this
meeting. Rev. Williamm Morgan was
employed as the settled pastor of.the
Church. Rev. William Parry occa-
sionally supplied the pulpit until af—
ter his - ordination im 1838 when he
became the settled minister, andre-
mained such until 1853, a penod of
fifteen years.

In 1836 the Society pmchased for
a nom_mal sum, a lot for a church
on w they erected a frame build-
ing, (the firstin the neighborhood,)
twenty—one by ‘thirty feet, which was
finished in 1837, at a cost of $321,89
cents, besides cnatmtous labor per-
formed by friends of the enterprize.
I remark here, i *passing, that the
subscription paper for building their
church shows that a liberal contri-
bution was made by the vemerable
President of our Society, Hon. Wll—
liam Stanbery:
. This was the first Welsh Cajgi " ;
Methodist_Church = built. i#fOhio.
There qre‘&v upwards of - “thirty.
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This church edifice was dedicated
June 25th 1837, by Rev. Dr. Row-
lands, of New York City, who was
reputed to be one of the most emi-
nent diyvines in his denomination,and
whose character is known to all Who
are familiar with the religious litera-
ture of Wales.

In 1853 Rev. Joseph E. Davis
succeded Rev. William Parry as the
settled minister. He was followed
in 1856 by Rev. B. T. Evans, who
sustained that relation until 1867,
when Rev. William Pagry again took
charge, and still retains it. .

The original elders, elected im
1835, were William 'B. Williams,
James Evans, and Alban Albans.
Those ' subsequently elected were
John.J. Evans and Robert Walter
in 1842, and David Hughes in 1859.
The two latter arethe present elders.

The membership at present numi-
bers thirty one.

The Sabbath Scheol has been reg-
ularly sus*ained, from its establish-
‘ment in 1833 to the present time, and
now numbers about forty members
or more.

Services in this Chu1ch have al—
ways been conducted in the Welsh
language.

This is properly the ploneer Welsh
Church of Licking county, because
the Baptist Church on the Welsh
Hills, although organized in 1808,
nearly thirty years befove this one,
is but pariialliy Welsh, its public min-
istrations having generally been con-
dugcted in’ the English language, and
only occasiorally inWelsh, Itis prob-
able however that a majonty f its
members have always been nReives
of Wales or of Walsh parentaore

The original ‘church building is
still occupied by this church.

The Welsh Calvinistic Methodist

\J

‘Churches of Newark and Granville |

were t0 some extent branches of this
Church.

THE WELSH CONGBEGA.CION AL CHURCH

IN HARRISON TOWNSHIP

A thn'dAof a eentury ago or more,
rof Welsh families settled
on, both sides of the ling. between

‘the occasional

the townships of St. Albans and
Harrison, and seon formed them-
selves into a religious organization
entitled the Welsh Congregational
Church of Harrison townshlp—-
Without unnecessary delay they
erected a church building in which
for many years, they maintaired
public worship in the Welsh lan-
guage. After the generation that

‘erected the church had nearly all

passed away, and the succeeding
generation all speaking the English
lancvua,ge, they gradually” became
absorbed by the surloundmg En-
glish churches; hence public ser~
Vices in Welsh could no longer be
sustained, and ultimately the church
orgamzatlon- became extinct, and is
now numbered w1th ‘the things that
were.’

Rev. John Powell, Rev. Jenkin
J enkins, Rev. David R. Jenkins and
Rev. John Williams were the:pas-

tors of this echurch, at different

times, and perhaps in the order
here named. The church organiza-
tion,’however, dissolved, the church
building was sold some years since,
and is now private property.

Rev.Thos W. Evans and Rev. Wm.
Parry ministered occasionally to
this church. A Sunday school was
coanected- with it also. ,

The descendants of Theophilus
Rees formed the nucleus of the Har-
rlson and St. Albans settlement.

THE WELSH CALVINISTIC METHODIST
CHURCH OF GRANVILLE.

The Rev. Edward Jones of Cinecin-
nati, is believed to have preached
the first Welsh sermon in Granville,at
the residence of Mr. Jenkin Hughes
about the year 1834. About this

time also, a Sabbath school was or—

ganized. These services and Sun-
day school exercises were conduct-
ed in a rented reom, over the Post-
office. ‘

Revs. Edward Jones, William
Parry and William Morgan were
e _ RxW’ achers until 1849,
when the Rev illiam Parry be—

came the settled minister. He re-

‘mained uniil 1852, and was succeed-
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ed by Rev. Joseph E. Davis. Rev.
E. T. Evans became the settled min-
ister in 1856, and continues to hold
that relation.

At the organization in 1839 Wil-
liam Ellis, J ohn Jones and W1111am
‘. Williams were elected elders. J.

J. Hughes and John R. Owens were

subsequently elected.

The present membership amounts
to about twenty. A small Sabbath
school is counnected with tkis church.
- The first church was built in 1843,
which was suceeeded in 1856 by the
building new occupied.

Services in this church have al-
ways been conducted in Welsh.

CRR—

WELSH CONGREGATIONAL CHURCH OF "(see Luke, 19 :32,> were the Eppl‘O-—-

GRANVILLE.

The Welsh Congregational
Church  of Granville was organized
in 1839. Revs. James Davis, Rees
Powell and John Powell preached
occamonally in Granville, before
the organization of the church.

Rev. John Powell commenced his
regular ministrations in 1839, and
continued for some years. Rev.
Thomas W. Evans was associated
with him from 1841 to 1843, and
from 1846 to 1848. From 1848.to
1856 Mr. Evans was sole pastor of
this church. Rev. Jenkin Jenkins
was paster from 1843 to 1846. Rev.
Thomas W. HEvans, was follow-
ed by Rev. David R. Jenkins, whose
ministry closed at his death in 18G1.

Rev.David Price wag their regu—
lar minisier, serving them abou$ six
years. He closed his labors but a
few weeks since.

This church at first worshiped in
the conference room of the Congre~
gational Church of Granville, but it
was not many years until they built
a church, which they continue te oc-
cupy.

The church has a membership of
sixty, with a flourishing Sabbath

school in connection with it, whose.

existence has been €o- -eval with that
- of the ehurch.

1ts ono'ma.l deacons cannot now be.
given, but William Jones, Thomas

D. Williams and Griffith D. Jones
at present officiate as such.
~ The services in this church have

always been eonducted in the Welsh
language.’ |

HISTORY OF THE WELSH CALVINISTIC
METHODIST CHURCH OF NEWARK.

Rev. William Parry of Granville,
preached in Newark in Awugust,
1836, at the house of Mr. Thomas

Hugaes, Whmh stocd on the lot
north of ¢ merican House, now
ow_ned drew Stmucker. This

the first Welsh. ser-
mon p ed in Newark.: Few, if
any other Welsh families then resid-
2d in Newark. ‘Fear not, littleflock,’

priate words upon which the Welsh
pioneer preacher’s remarks were
founded, on this occasion. From
this time until the autuma of 1840,

there was Welsh preaching occa--
sionally, a school house, south of

- .ithe canal, being used for that pur-

pose, as well as for the purposes of a
Sabbath school, which was early es-
tablished. Rev. Seth Howells,
(Presbyterian), = Rev. Thomas
Hughes, (Baptist), Rev. William
Parry and others, were of the pum-
ber of clergymen who officiated dur-
ing this period. Our Welsh citi-
zeus, both of town and country,
worshipped tegether

The Welsh Calvinistic Metho-
dists built a small frame church on
Granville street, which cost $555.81.
It was finished in May, 1841,and the
church was duly organized May
28th, 1841,with a membership num-~
bering - 24, Rev. William Parry
m1mstered to them occasionally, un-
ti{ September of the same year,
waen Reév. Hugh E. Rees, recently
from Llandderfel, Wales, was called

} as the settled minister.

Mr. Thomas Hughes and Mr.
Morgan Williams were elected dea—
cons and MesSrs. Thomas Hughes,
William Parry, Morgan Williams,
Timothy Winston,Richard Watkins,

A"‘homas Dowell and Enecs Owens

!

were elected trustees. During this
vear this church received a valuable
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accession in the person of Deacon
Robert Owens, from RBiontgomery-
shire, in ‘Wales; Deacon Edward

Brown and family, with a number |

of other families, strengthened the
church in 1844.

In January, 1845, a schism arose
in the church, whereupon Rev. H. E.
Rees and most of the congregation
removed to a brick school house on
the east side of Mt. Vernon street,
and there, on Sunday, January 12th,

1845, established themseclves as a

‘church. The minorifgithat remain-
ed consisted of eigh®r ten mem-
bers and a small congregatien, who
retained possession of the church.
They soon purchased the school
house, paying for it $380.00, which
served .their purposes until 1856,
when a new church was built on
Elm street, at a cost of a little. over
$2,300.00, nearly $300.00 of which
was contributed by others than
those of the congregation.

Rev. Mr. Rees continued his min-

istrations until April, 1848, when he |

removed to - Cincinnati, In August
of the same year, Rev. Hugh Rob-
erts suceceeded him, and he remained
until July, 1852. Rev. Joseph K.
Davies immediately tcok charge of
the church and continued his ser—
vices until the spring of 1855. He

was followed in September of that:

year by Rev. E. T. Evans, who still
sustains that relation. During the
past year the Rev. John Moses has
been co-pastor with Rev. E. T.
Evans. , :
- Messrs.Robert Evans, Griffith D.
©Owens, Richard Watkins, Edward
Brown and David E. Jones were
elected trustees immediately after
the division. ' '
Robert R. Owens, Robert Evans,
Evan Moses' and John W?¥ Jones
are the present acting deacons.
The following persons, now de-
ceased, have all been deacous of
this church, since the .division. I
give also the time of their decease:
Thomas Hughes died Aug 11, 1845
David Rees, “ ¢ 13, 1849

Richard Watkins Oct 24, 1851
Lumley Jones March 31, 1853

(13
.6¢

Robert Owens “

Morgan Williams ¢ Dec 9,1858

Edward Brown « Aug 19, 1861

The services of this church are
conducted in the Welsh language.—
The present membership is ninety—
seven.

A Sabbath school has always
been connected with this chureh,
which, of late years, has had about
one hundred scholars, as a general
average.

That portion of the congregation
which remained in the church on
Granville street, kept up a separate
organization for some time, probab-
ly- two years, but gradually grew
weaker, by members of the congre~
gation going to the other churches,
and to the seceding branch, which
was soon recognized as the legiti—
mate organization, and being thus
absorbed, it finally subsided alto-
gether. =
HISTORY .OF THE WELSH CONGREGA-

TIONAL CHURCH IN NEWARK.

Rev. dJames Davis, from the
Welsh settlement on Owl creek,
preached the first Welsh Congrega—~
tional sermon in- Newark, in or
about the year 1887. .

Mr. Thomas D.. Jones and Mr.
Wicodemus Griffiths, whe lived a
few miles north-west from Newark,
and who were very decided Congre-
gationalists, were. the first men to
move in the matter of organizing
& Welsh Congregational Church in
Newark. Learning that several
Welsh families of that faith had set-
tled there, and in the neighborheod,
they called upon them, and the in-
terview resulted in the appointment
to meet at the house of David Jones,
in Lockport, to consider the subject.
This meeting was held early in the

Oct 22, 1854

‘year 1841) and was attended by

Rev. Rees Powell of Delaware coun-
ty, eand Rev. Seth Howell, (a Pres—
byterian minisier), who was a so-
journer in this neighborhood, at the
time, David Jones, T. D. Jones,
Thomas Rees; David Lewis and

4 Thomas Roberts, with their fam’-

lies, also Mr. Evan W. Evans, and
Titus and Josiah Davis. An- ad-
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journed meeting was held the next
day at the house of Thomas Rees on
Fourth street in Newark, where the
Welsh Congregational Church was
orcramzed W1th Thomas Rees,
Frances Rees, Thomas D. dJones,
Ann Jones, David Lewis, Hannah
Lewis, Mary Roberts, Evan W. Ev-
ans, Titus Dawvis and Josiah Davis
as members. Thomas D. Jones,Da-
vid Lewis and Thomas Rees were |
elected deacons.

Soon after, . they purchased a
frame church on Mt. Vernon street,
with the seats, and old ten plate
Mary Ann Furnace stoves, for a
little less than five hundred dollars.
They entered into possession March
3d, 1841. David Jones, Evan W.
Evans, Thomas Roberts, Themas
D. Jones, David Lewis, Watkin
Watkins and Thomas Rees were
-elected  trustees. Sabbath services
were conducted by Rev. John Pow—|
ell, who was assisted by Rev. Thoim-
as W. Evans after his arrival from
Wales in July of this year. These
joint labors were continued until
1843, when Rev. Jenkin Jenkins was
ehosen the regular pastor, who,
however, served only one year. In
1846 Rev' Thomas W. Evans be-
came the settled minister, and sus-
tained that relation until 1856, when
he removed to Iowa, and is now
the pastor of a church in the Flint
Creek settlement.
be borne in kindly remembrance by
his old-time friends in Newark, es-
pecially his temperance friends,
natives no tess than his own coun-
trymen.

Rev. Rees M. Evans supplied the
pulpit for a few months after Mr.
Thomas W. Evans’ resignation,
when: Rev. David R. Jenkins became
the seftled pastor, and continued as
such until his death, which occurred
Mareh 11, 1861. y

In October, 1862, Rev. David
Price was elected pastor, and he
continued in that relation until last
mornth, March, 1869.

-When the pulpit was vacant, and }

no services in the Welsh Ianguao'e

.continues

He continues to

eonld be had, Rev, Alexander

Duncan afforded assistance and
kind offices, by preaching funeral
discourses. in the congregation, ad-
ministering the communion, and
rendering pulpit services general-
ly, and by giving counsel 2nd ad-
vice, and fraternally aiding them
during ministerial destitution. He
to be held in kind
remembrance by the earlier mem-
bers of this church and congregation.

[(The afore-mentioned old frame building was
used by this church until very recently, when it
was superceded by a fine structure of brick, of
very creditable style of architecture, at a cost of
seven thomsand dollars.]

The present efficers of this Socie-
ty are Thomas D. Jenes, David Ow-
ens, Isaac Hughes, Lewi#s Jones and
Morris Evans, Deacons—and Theoem-
as D. Jones, Willilam T. Griffith,
Isaac Hughes, Lewis Jones, Rees
Rees, Thomas Morris and Benjamin
W Evans, Trustees.

The weekly prayer meetings,
monthly concerts]of prayer, and Sab-
bath School have been regularly
maintained since . the first organiza-
tion of the church.

The number of church members
at present is 140, with a Congrega-
tion gf nearly 200 The average at-
tendance at the Sabbath School is
more than 100.

The pulpit and other services in

this church have, in the general, been
in Welsh.
The aderents of this and probably
the other Welsh Congregational
Church in Licking county, divide
somewhat betweer Armininanism
and the milder form of modern Cal-
vinism, in their belief.

RECAPITULATION OF WELSH CHURCH
STATISTICS IN LICKING COUNTY, OHIO.

Church 8. S.Schol-

em. ars.
Woelsh Bifls Baphst Church
organized in 1808 70
Sharon V alley Welsh Calvin- :
istic Church org. in 1835 31 40
Granville Welsh Congreatlon-
al Church org.in 1839 - 60 s0
Granville Welsh Calvinistie
Methodlst Church org.
n 1839 30
N ewa.rk Woelsh <Calvinigtie
N Methodlst -Church org.
ot 100
N ewarkWelshCongrezatl ona.l '
Chureh org. in 1841 118

421 435
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The foregoing figures are correct
as to church members, but show
only a mnear approxXimation to the
facts as to Sunday School pupils.
Not more than two thirds of the
members of the Welsh Hills Baptist

‘Church are Welsh, but the number
‘thus lost is mueh more than made
up by Welsh members in English
Churches—the loss is probably more
than quadrupled. ‘

The .-Welsh Pioneers of Licking County,

Here’s a song all about the Welsh Pi-{

oneers,
" And their own green forest homes,
Whose pleasant memory freshly yet,
Across the bosom comes ;
YWe sing of the free and gladsome life,
In those early days they led,
With a virgin soil beneath their feet,
And a smiling heaven o’erhead!
Oh! the waves oflife danced merrily,
And had a joyous flow :
In the days of the old Welsh Pioneers,
NEARSEVENTY YEARS AGO!

The hunt, the shot, the glorious chase,
The captured bear and deer;

The camp, the big bright fire, and days.
Of rich and wholesome cheer;

The sweet, sound sleep, at dead o0fnight,

" By the camp-fire blazing high—

Unbroken by the wolf s:long howl,
And the panther springing by.

Oh, merrily passed the time, despite
The once-feared and savage foe,

In the days of the old Welsh Pioneers, |

NEAR SEVENTY YEARS AGO !

They shunn’d not labor ; when twas due
They wrought with right good will,
And for the homes erected ﬁlen, '
Their children bless them still.
They lived not hermit lives. but oft

In social converse met,
And fires oflove were kindled then
- That burn on brightly yet.
Obh, pleasantly the stream of life
©  Pursued its constant flow,
In the days of the old' Welsl#®Pioneers,
" NEAR SEVENTY YEARS AGO!

They felt that they were fe_lloW-—men:
And that they werea band

}

Sustained here in the Wilderness,
By Heaven’s upholding hand.
And when the holy Sabbath came,
In woods or cabin’s they praises

sung, _

And lift § up their hearts in prayer

To God the only Wise. X
The groyves were God’s first Temple’s
- here, wherein ‘ .
‘Where humble worshippers_we know
In the days of the 0ld Welsh Pioneers,

NEAR SEVENTY YEARS AGO ! '

Their forest life was rough and rude,
~ And dangers closed them round, -
But then amid the green old trees,
They freedom sought and found.
Oft through their cabins wintry blasts
Would rush with shriek and moan; -
"They cared not—though they were but
frail :
They felt they were their own'!

{. Oh, free and manly lives were led,

In smmmer, or mid the snow,
By our brave-hearted Welsh Pioneers,
EAR BEVENTY YEARS AGO!

Few or none remain! Their steps grew
short, ' : o
And as from day to day,
They moved along withshalting feet
And fainting by the way,
Another land more bright than this
To their dim sight appeared,
And on their way they well remembered
How here they pioneered!
Now tl}alere midst purer, loyvlier seenes,
they M
Happy backward glances throw,
To the- “Hills’® where they were pio-
neers,
. NEAR SEVENTY YEARS AGO!




